No. 70806-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ALAN NORD,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

2014 APR 22 PM 1: 20

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

"Involvement of government officers in the production of testimony with an eye toward trial presents unique potential for prosecutorial abuse." Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 56 n.7, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). At the center of the prosecution against Alan Nord for delivery of a controlled substance was a government agent, an informant. The State, however, chose not to call this informant at trial. Nevertheless, a police officer testified about statements the informant made. Admission of this testimonial hearsay as substantive evidence violated Nord's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him and the rules of evidence. Because the error was prejudicial, this Court should reverse the delivery conviction. For other reasons, this Court should reverse the convictions for attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle and possession of a controlled substance.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court violated the defendant's right of confrontation by admitting testimonial statements from an informant.
- In violation of the rules of evidence, the court admitted inadmissible hearsay.
- The court erred in instructing the jury on accomplice liability.
 CP 34 (Instruction No. 8); CP 38 (Instruction No. 12).

- 4. The charging document alleging attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle failed to include all the essential elements of the offense.
- 5. The court erred by failing to instruct the jury on the defense of unwitting possession.
- Prosecutorial misconduct deprived the defendant of his right to a fair trial.
- 7. The court failed to instruct the jury that the charge of possession of controlled substance could not be based on the same act as the charge for delivery of controlled substance. CP 40 (Instruction 14).
- 8. The court erred by not vacating the conviction for possession because it violated the prohibition against double jeopardy.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. In general, testimonial statements from an absent witness must be excluded under the confrontation clause. A statement is testimonial if a reasonable person in the declarant's position would anticipate his statement being used against the accused. The informant, who was working for the government in exchange for leniency, made statements to Nord over the phone in the presence and at the behest of a police detective. The informant did not testify. Did the admission of these statements violate Nord's right to confront the witnesses against him?

- 2. Absent an exception, out-of-court statements offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted are inadmissible. Over Nord's objection, a police officer testified that an informant told Nord over the phone that he wanted to buy a quarter ounce of methamphetamine. While arguing the statement was not admitted for the "truth," the prosecutor used the statements to argue that Nord was complicit in any delivery and that the amount of methamphetamine the informant received, a quarter ounce, matched the requested amount. Did the court err admitting the informant's statements?
- 3. Under due process, all essential elements of the offense must be contained in the information. The allegation of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle failed to allege that Nord acted "willfully." Rather than alleging that Nord "willfully" failed to stop, the information only alleged that the Nord failed to stop. Should the eluding conviction be reversed because this essential element cannot be found or fairly implied from the charging document?
- 4. A trial court must instruct the jury on a party's theory of the case if the law and evidence support it. After a car chase and impoundment of the car, police found a bag of methamphetamine on the floor of the car. Nord had been driving the car with two passengers. The evidence did not establish that he was the owner of the car. Nord

requested an instruction on the defense of "unwitting possession." Did the trial court err in refusing to give the requested instruction?

- 5. A prosecutor should not make arguments to the jury appealing to passions or prejudices. During closing arguments, the prosecutor compared Nord to a "madman" and argued that the actions of law enforcement in apprehending him were "heroic." He asserted that acquitting Nord would send the wrong message to law enforcement. Did this flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct deprive Nord of a fair trial?
- 6. Nord was convicted of both delivery of a controlled substance and possession of a controlled substance. A conviction for possession based on the same evidence of delivery violates the prohibition against double jeopardy. The charging document alleged that both acts occurred on the same day. The jury instructions did not ensure that a guilty determination for possession would not be based on the same evidence as the delivery. Because the two convictions may be based on the same evidence, should the possession conviction be vacated?
- 7. For the delivery of a controlled substance conviction, the applicable standard sentencing range was 60 to 120 months. The court justified a top-end sentence of 120 months on the facts from the eluding conviction. A court may not rely on uncharged crimes or acquitted conduct to support a sentence. If the delivery conviction is affirmed, but

the eluding conviction is reversed, should this court remand for resentencing on the delivery conviction?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Alan Nord with four counts: (1) delivery of a controlled substance, methamphetamine; (2) possession of a controlled substance, methamphetamine; (3) attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle; and (4) assault in the third degree. CP 13-14.

According to testimony from law enforcement officers, the

Bellingham Police Department attempted to conduct a controlled buy of
methamphetamine from Nord on April 10, 2013. RP 152, 181. Officer

William Medlen⁵ testified that he was working with an informant named
Brad Cave. RP 180, 201. In exchange for leniency in an investigation
against him, Cave agreed to help police gather evidence and successfully
prosecute other people. RP 195-97. Absent Cave's agreement, he faced

¹ RCW 69.50.401(2)(b).

² RCW 69.50.4013(1).

³ RCW 46.61.024. The State also alleged that the commission of the offense endangered one or more persons for the purposes of RCW 9.94A.533(11).

⁴ RCW 9A.36.031(1)(a) and (g).

⁵ At the time of the operation, Medlen's title was detective. RP 201.

possible imprisonment. RP 209. As part of the "contract," Cave understood that he could be called to court to testify. RP 209.

Around noon on April 10, 2014, Cave, in Medlen's presence, made a call. RP 181. Medlen put his ear up to the receiver and listened in on the call. RP 181-82. Medlen claimed to recognize the voice on the other end of the phone as Nord's. RP 182. Over Nord's hearsay objection, Medlen testified that Cave told Nord that Cave was interested in buying a quarter ounce of methamphetamine. RP 182-83. According to Medlen, Nord said he was out of town and would be back in Bellingham in a few hours. RP 183. After a few more phone calls, they agreed to meet at Cave's residence. RP 183. The police did not search Cave's residence before the meeting. RP 204.

Law enforcement set up surveillance around Cave's residence, but the surveillance did not cover the entry into the home. RP 185, 187. The entrance was at the back of the building, out of view. RP 216.

After Cave had gone to his home, Medlen, who was about 30 to 40 yards north of the home, saw a Honda enter the driveway leading to the home. RP 187. Police believed that Nord would be in a Honda. RP 155. Medlen could not see beyond the driveway to the residence. RP 210, 216. Similarly, the surveillance team was unable to see Cave. RP 205. About

15 minutes after arriving, the Honda pulled out of Cave's driveway. RP 179, 188, 210.

As the Honda was driving north, police deployed spike stripes on the road. RP 41. The Honda drove over the spike stripes, damaging its tires. RP 41. The Honda continued its course and eventually headed southeast. RP 35. A police car chase ensued. RP 43-44. After following the Honda for a number of miles, a law enforcement officer used his car to push the Honda off the road in Alger. RP 123-24. The police arrested the driver, Nord. RP 64. Two adult passengers, one man and one woman, were in the car. RP 65.

After the Honda left Cave's driveway, Medlen met Cave. RP 188.

Cave gave him a quarter ounce of methamphetamine. RP 188-89, 217.

After conducting a cursory search of Cave's residence, without any drug dogs, police did not find any drugs. RP 190, 213-14. Police also did not find any of the "buy" money on Cave or at his home. RP 190. Earlier, Medlen had checked out \$300 in twenty dollar denominations and given Cave \$260 of it. RP 184, 194. He kept the remaining two bills on his person. RP 194.

Following the impoundment of the Honda, Medlen and another officer searched it. RP 157. They found a bag containing methamphetamine on the floor of the car. RP 101, 157. They also found a

wallet with Nord's identification on the floor of the car. RP 160. The wallet had \$130 inside. RP 193. A \$20 bill in the wallet matched one of the bills given to Cave. RP 194-95. Medlen did not know what happened to the other \$240. RP 207.

At trial, the State did not call Cave. Officer Medlen was permitted to testify as to what Cave said to Nord on the phone. RP 182-83. Over Nord's objection, the court instructed the jury on accomplice liability based on Cave's statements. RP 262-64. The jury found Nord guilty of the two drug charges and of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, but acquitted him of the charge of third degree assault. CP 57-58.

For the delivery conviction, the court sentenced Nord to the topend standard range sentence of 120 months. CP 71-72. The lesser sentences of 41 months for the eluding conviction and 24 months for possession charge were to be served concurrently. CP 72. In relation to the eluding conviction, the court ordered restitution of \$2,835.20 for vehicle repair. CP 78. Nord appeals.⁸

⁶ Through a special verdict form, the jury found that the act had endangered others. CP 59.

⁷ The third degree assault charge was premised on Nord's actions in driving the Honda while law enforcement tried to push the Honda off the road. RP 287-88.

⁸ In addition to this case, Nord is appealing a different case. That case number is 70904-6-I.

E. ARGUMENT

 In criminal trials, the confrontation clause prohibits admission of testimonial statements from an absent informant.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution⁹ and article 1, section 22 of the Washington Constitution,¹⁰ guarantee criminal defendants the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses. The confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment "applies to 'witnesses' against the accused—in other words, those who 'bear testimony."

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004) (citation omitted). In general, it also bars admission of testimonial statements of an absent witness. Id. at 59. Whether the admission of statements violate a defendant's confrontation rights is a constitutional question reviewed de novo. State v. Price, 158 Wn.2d 630, 638-39, 146 P.3d 1183 (2006).

Here, testimonial statements from the absent informant were admitted. Because this violated Nord's right of confrontation and the

⁹ Under the Sixth Amendment, the accused has the "right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend. 6.

 $^{^{10}}$ Article 1, section 22 provides that in "criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right . . . to meet the witnesses against him face to face" Const. art. 1, § 22.

State cannot meet its burden to prove the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, this Court should reverse.

a. The informant's statements were testimonial.

Absent unavailability and a prior opportunity for cross-examination, testimonial statements from an absent witness may not be admitted. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 59. Included among the "core class" of testimonial statements are (1) statements that a declarant would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorially and (2) statements made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial. Id. at 51-52. In general, statements by informants are testimonial in character. United States v. Cromer, 389 F.3d 662, 675 (6th Cir. 2004).

When a statement is not made to law enforcement, the standard is "whether a reasonable person in the declarant's position would anticipate his or her statement being used against the accused in investigating and prosecuting the alleged crime." State v. Shafer, 156 Wn.2d 381, 390 n.8, 128 P.3d 87 (2006); State v. Beadle, 173 Wn.2d 97, 109, 265 P.3d 863 (2011) (standard applies when statement is made to a nongovernmental witness). When a statement is made in the context of police interrogation, the "primary purpose" test applies:

Statements are nontestimonial when made in the course of police interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. They are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.

<u>Davis v. Washington</u>, 547 U.S. 813, 822, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006); <u>Beadle</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 108 (primary purpose test applies to statements made during police interrogation).

Officer Medlen testified to the contents of the informant's telephone conversation with Nord. RP 182. He testified that, "Mr. Cave was explaining to Mr. Nord he wanted to buy a quarter ounce of methamphetamine, wanted to hook up with him, which is a common term for meet for the exchange." RP 183. According to Medlen, Nord said he was out of town, that he was picking up something, and that he would be back in town in a few hours. RP 183. Medlen then testified that Cave asked to meet Nord in public, but ultimately agreed to meet at Cave's residence. See RP 183.

Here, Cave, a government informant, made statements to Nord rather than to the police. Thus, the declarant centered <u>Shaffer</u> standard applies. The statements are testimonial because a reasonable person in Cave's position would expect that his statements would be used in

prosecuting Nord. Cave was acting on behalf of law enforcement and made the statements in the presence of a police detective. The point of the operation was to gather evidence for a prosecution against Nord. As part of Cave's "contract" with police, Cave understood that he could be called to court to testify. RP 209. Under these facts, a reasonable person in Cave's position would expect that his statements to Nord, about requesting to buy a quarter ounce of methamphetamine, would be used at trial. Thus, the informant's statements meet the "core class" definitions of testimonial established in Crawford.

b. The admission of the testimonial statements had practical and identifiable consequences, making the constitutional violation manifest error.

Nord did not argue that the admission of the informant's statements violated his right of confrontation. Nevertheless, this Court should review the issue because the violation of Nord's confrontation rights qualifies as "a manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3). A showing of actual prejudice makes an error manifest. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). Actual prejudice is established when the error had "practical and identifiable consequences." Id.

Here, the testimonial statements from Cave should have been excluded. The statements from Cave asking to buy a quarter ounce of

methamphetamine were crucial evidence in prosecuting Nord for delivery. As explained in greater detail below on why the error was prejudicial, the State used this evidence repeatedly to argue that Nord was guilty of delivery and to obtain an accomplice liability instruction. There was no similar evidence. Accordingly, because the error had identifiable and practical consequences, the claim qualifies as manifest error affecting a constitutional right that this Court should review despite lack of an objection below. State v. Kronich, 160 Wn.2d 893, 900-01, 161 P.3d 982 (2007) (reviewing confrontation clause challenge for first time on appeal as manifest constitutional error under RAP 2.5) overruled on other grounds by State v. Jasper, 174 Wn.2d 96, 271 P.3d 876 (2012).

c. The State cannot meet its burden to prove that the constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

If a court determines a claim raises a manifest constitutional error, it may still be subject to a harmless error analysis. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98. Confrontation right violations are subject to harmless error analysis. State v. Jasper, 174 Wn.2d 96, 117, 271 P.3d 876 (2012). Constitutional error is presumed to be prejudicial, and the State bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967); State v. Coristine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 380, 300 P.3d 400 (2013). The State must show beyond a reasonable

doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the finding of guilt. <u>Jasper</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 117. Because the evidence of delivery was weak and the State's accomplice liability theory was based on the erroneously admitted testimonial statements from Cave, the State cannot meet its burden to prove the error was harmless.

No witness testified about what happened in Cave's residence. No witness testified that Nord entered Cave's home. Although the State might have called Cave to testify about how he obtained the methamphetamine, the State did not call him as a witness. Nor did the State call as witnesses either of the two passengers in the Honda, who might have had pertinent knowledge of what happened. The testimony only established that the Honda entered Cave's driveway and that it later exited the driveway. RP 166-67, 179, 185-88, 210, 216. Police officers did not see who went into the home and did not see into the home. See RP 166-67, 179, 185-88, 210, 216.

Without Cave's testimonial statement that he wanted to buy a quarter ounce of methamphetamine from Nord, the evidence would not have established that Nord met Cave to facilitate a drug transaction. And without the statement, the amount of methamphetamine Cave handed over to Officer Medlen, a quarter ounce, would have not linked Nord to the

delivery. The statement showed that Cave had received the same amount of methamphetamine that he had requested on the phone.

The testimonial statements were also used, over Nord's objection, to justify an accomplice liability instruction on the delivery charge. RP 262-64; CP 34, 38. Nord's complicity was premised primarily on the hearsay evidence from Cave. RP 263. The State used the accomplice liability instruction to argue that while it was unknown who physically delivered the methamphetamine to Cave, it did not matter because Nord was an accomplice by setting up the "deal":

So, we may not know who actually did the physical delivery of the methamphetamine to Mr. Cave, but we do know or it doesn't matter, because Mr. – we do know Mr. Nord is that person's accomplice, whether he actually handed it to Mr. Cave, he is their accomplice. He set up the deal. He agreed and aided in the performance of the commission of that crime.

RP 277; see also CP 34 (telling jury Nord was guilty if Nord or an accomplice delivered a controlled substance). Absent this evidence, the State would not have been able to obtain an accomplice liability instruction. See In re Welfare of Wilson, 91 Wn.2d 487, 588 P.2d 1161 (1979) (merely being at scene of a crime is insufficient to make one an accomplice to a crime). The State certainly would not have been able to argue that the phone conversation established accomplice liability.

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