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

Nord did not object to this argument, and he never asked for a limiting 

instruction on any of the testimony. 

Nord cites to the Edwards and Johnson cases, but those cases are 

distinguishable. In Edwards, the informant's statements sought to be 

admitted were those that were made to the detective, not to the defendant, 

and the basis argued for admission was to explain the detective's reason 

for starting an investigation regarding the defendant, which information 

the court found was not relevant to an issue in controversy. State v. 

Edwards, 131 Wn. App. 611, 614-15, 128 P.3d 611 (2006). In Johnson 

the information that came from the informant was contained in a search 

warrant affidavit and was double hearsay. State v. Johnson, 61 Wn. App. 

539,545,811 P.2d 687 (1991). The information was admitted to show the 
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officer's state of mind when he sought the search warrant, but the search 

warrant was not challenged and therefore the officer's state of mind was 

irrelevant. Id. While the officer didn't testify as to the specific statements 

the informant made to him, he testified that he had reason to suspect the 

defendant was involved in drug trafficking, and the court determined that 

the inference from the information was the same as if the statements had 

been admitted. Id. at 546-547. The statements here, on the other hand, 

were not admitted to provide context as to why the detective was 

investigating Nord, but rather to provide context to Nord 's admissions on 

the phone, and therefore was relevant. 

b. Any admission of hearsay was harmless 

Evidence erroneously admitted as hearsay can be harmless. "An 

evidentiary error which is not of constitutional magnitude requires reversal 

only if the error, within reasonable probability, materially affected the 

outcome of the trial." State v. Halstien, 122 Wn. 2d 109, 127,857 P.2d 

270 (1993). The very information that Nord asserts was erroneously 

admitted as hearsay evidence had already been admitted without objection. 

Therefore, any error in admitting the objected-to informant's statements 

was harmless. 

While the prosecutor's closing argument about the quantity of 

drugs delivered arguably used the informant's statement to prove the truth 
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of the matter asserted, the State did not need to prove the amount of drugs 

delivered. All that mattered was that Nord delivered methamphetamine, 

and the informant's statements concerning his agreement to deliver 

"product" were clearly non-hearsay. Moreover, the testimony that Nord 

now complains of, that the informant stated that he wanted to buy a 

quarter ounce of drugs, was already in evidence before Nord objected to 

the detective's description of the phone call. Before defense counsel 

objected to testimony about the content of the phone call, the detective had 

testified that the phone call had been short: "Just long enough for Mr. 

Cave, the informant, to tell Mr. Nord he was looking for a quarter, which 

was a quarter ounce and the phone call ... " In addition, Nord essentially 

admitted that he delivered methamphetamine in the jail recording of his 

phone call. Therefore, any erroneous admission of hearsay testimony was 

harmless. (See further discussion of harmless error in section 2.c. below.) 

2. The informant's statements on the phone did not 
violate the Confrontation Clause because they 
weren't testimonial statements and weren't 
offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. 

Nord asserts that his confrontation clause rights were violated 

when the detective testified to what the informant said on the phone to 

Nord when the drug deal was set up. First, Nord waived his ability to 

raise this issue on appeal when he failed to move to compel production of 
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the informant at trial. Second, an informant's statements in setting up a 

drug deal with a defendant are not "testimonial" statements. Even if they 

were testimonial statements, they were not offered to prove the truth of the 

matter asserted and therefore did not violate the Confrontation Clause. 

Moreover, any error in admitting testimony regarding the informant's 

statements on the phone was harmless where the evidence showed that 

Nord agreed to provide product and arranged to make the delivery at the 

informant's house, the amount of drugs the informant gave to the detective 

matched the amount of money the informant gave to Nord, some of the 

pre-recorded money was found in Nord's wallet, Nord tried to flee 

apprehension, and he admitted to having given the informant drugs that 

day. 

a. Nord may not raise a violation of the 
Confrontation Clause for the first time on 
appeal 

Under the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 

Section 22 of the State Constitution a defendant has a right to confront the 

witnesses against them. However, the right must be asserted at trial or is 

lost. "A clear line of decisions-Melendez-Diaz, Bulicoming, Jasper, and 

Hayes-requires that a defendant raise a Sixth Amendment confrontation 

clause claim at or before trial or lose the benefit of the right." State v. 

O'Cain, 169 Wn. App. 228, 248, 279 P.3d 926 (2012). A confrontation 
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clause claim is also lost under Art. 1 Section 22 if not asserted at trial. Id. 

at 252. Nord did not assert that admission of the informant's statements 

violated his right to confrontation at trial. He therefore may not raise this 

issue for the first time on appeal. 

b. The informant's statements were not 
testimonial, nor offeredfor the truth of the 
matter asserted, and therefore did not 
violate the Confrontation Clause 

Even if Nord could assert a confrontation clause claim for the first 

time on appeal, the informant's statements were not "testimonial" as they 

were not solemn declarations that were admitted to establish a fact. Nor 

were they offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, and therefore 

were not in violation of the Confrontation Clause. 

Confrontation clause claims are reviewed de novo. Mason, 160 

Wn.2d at 922. Admission of testimonial statements violates a defendant's 

confrontation clause rights unless the witness is unavailable and the 

defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness regarding 

the statement. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 59, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 

158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004). Testimonial statements are typically those that 

are solemn declarations that are made for the purpose of proving some 

fact, and include: (l) ex parte in-court testimony; (2) extrajudicial 

statements like affidavits; and (3) "statements made under circumstances 
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that would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the 

statement would be available for use at a later trial." Chambers, 134 Wn. 

App. at 860-61. In Davis v. Washington, the U.S. Supreme Court 

described "testimonial" statements to law enforcement as those that are 

made when there is no on-going emergency, and the primary purpose of 

the police interrogation "is to establish or prove past events potentially 

relevant to later criminal prosecution." Mason, 160 Wn.2d at 918-19 

(quoting Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 126 S.Ct. 2266,2273-74, 

165 L.Ed.2d 224 (2006)) (emphasis added). Casual remarks are not the 

kind of formal statement that is contemplated as "testimonial" under the 

confrontation clause. Ig. at 862. 

For example, in Brown v. Epps, 686 F.3d 281 (5th Cir. 2012), a 

government informant's conversations regarding drug deals with two 

unidentified individuals were recorded and admitted into evidence. Id. at 

283-284. The defendant was the driver of the vehicle that delivered the 

drugs. Id. at 283 . In determining whether statements are testimonial the 

court emphasized that it was important to distinguish between statements 

about events as they were happening and those that described past events. 

Id. at 287. It concluded that the unidentified individuals' statements on 

the recordings were not testimonial because the exchange was casual for 

the purpose of setting up a drug deal and were not "solemn declarations 
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made for the purpose of establishing some fact." Id. at 288. While the 

court did not have to address the issue of the informant's statements on the 

recordings as the informant testified, the court noted that "even if [the 

informant] had not appeared at trial, his statements might have been 

admissible to put the identified individuals' statements into context and to 

make them intelligible to the jury." Id. at 288 n.37. 

The confrontation clause "does not bar the use of testimonial 

statements for purposes other than establishing the truth of the matter 

asserted." Crawford, 541 U.S. at 60 n.9; State v. Fraser, 170 Wn. App. 13, 

21,282 P.3d 152 (2012), rev. den., 176 Wn.2d 1022 (2013). Informants' 

statements made during the course of a controlled purchase of contraband 

which provide context and are not offered to prove the truth of the matter 

asserted are non-testimonial, and therefore are not implicated by 

Crawford. Van Sach, 458 F.3d at 701; see a/so, State v. Rangel-Reyes, 

119 Wn. App. 494,498,81 P.3d 157 (2003) (verbal acts of third party to 

drug deal were not offered to prove truth of matter asserted and therefore 

were not hearsay and did not violate confrontation clause). 

A number of federal courts treat informant statements to a 

defendant in setting up a drug deal as non-hearsay that does not violate the 

Confrontation Clause because the statements aren't offered to prove the 

truth of the matter. In U.S. v. Fosterld. at 1150-1151 the court held: "The 
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admission of recorded conversations between informants and defendants is 

permissible where an informant's statements provide context for the 

defendant's own admissions." Foster, 701 F.3d at 1150. It so held because 

such statements are not offered to prove the truth of the matter, and 

therefore do not violate the Confrontation Clause. Id. at 1150-51; see also, 

U.S. v. Gaytan, 649 F.3d 573 (th Cir. 2011), cert. den. 132 S.Ct. 1129 

(2012) ("confidential informant's out-of-court statements are not hearsay 

if they are offered not for the truth but to put the defendant's statements in 

context or to make what he said and did in reaction to the informant's 

statements intelligible to the jury"); u.s. v. York, 572 F.3d 415 (7th Cir. 

2009) (admission of recorded conversations between informants and 

defendants does not violate Confrontation Clause as long as tapes are 

offered to provide context for defendant's admissions and not for truth). 

The defendant in Foster also argued that some of the informant's 

statements were hearsay because they were used by the government in 

closing to show that that the defendant was guilty, as Nord does. The 

court denied this, finding that the statements were not offered to show that 

the drugs were of a particular quality, but were used to clarify the 

defendant's responses to the jury. Foster, 701 F.3d at 1151. 

Nord asserts that the informant's statements testified to by the 

detective fall within the third category of "testimonial" statements, 
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"statements made under circumstances that would lead an objective 

witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use 

at a later trial." The court in U.S. v. Hendricks acknowledged the appeal of 

such an analysis but ultimately discounted it. U.S. v. Hendricks, 395 F.3d 

173, 182-83 (3 rd Cir. 2005). It acknowledged that while an informant's 

statements could be viewed as those which the informant could expect to 

be used in a prosecution, it noted that the U.S. Supreme Court in Crawford 

cited with approval to the Bourjaily v. United States4 opinion as an 

example of a case that was consistent with the "principle that the Sixth 

Amendment permits the admission of nontestimonial statements in the 

absence of a prior opportunity for cross-examination." Hendricks, 395 

F.3d at 183. The Bouriaily opinion addressed admissibility of statements 

made by a purported co-conspirator to an informant. Id. at 183. The court 

concluded "if a Defendant or his or her coconspirator makes statements as 

part of a reciprocal and integrated conversation with a government 

informant who later becomes unavailable for trial, the Confrontation 

Clause does not bar the introduction of the informant's portions of the 

conversation as are reasonably required to place the defendant or 

coconspirator's nontestimonial statements into context." Id. at 184. 

4 Bouriaily v. United States, 483 U.S. 171, \07 S.Ct. 2775, 97 L.Ed.2d 144 (1987). 
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Similarly, the informant's statements here put Nord's admissions 

into context, to show that Nord was agreeing to give the informant drugs, 

and therefore not did not violate the Confrontation Clause. They were not 

"testimonial" statements either, in that they were not the kind of solemn 

declaration made to establish a past fact that the Confrontation Clause is 

aimed at prohibiting. 

c. Any error in admission of the informant's 
statements was harmless 

Confrontation clause violations are subject to harmless error 

analysis. State v. Flores, 164 Wn.2d 1, 18, 186 P.3d 1038 (2008). Such an 

error is harmless if the properly admitted evidence is so overwhelming as 

to necessarily lead to a finding of guilt. Id. at 18-19. 

"Confrontation Clause errors [are] subject to Chapman harmless
error analysis." ... Under this standard, the State must show 
"beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not 
contribute to the verdict obtained." ... 

Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case 
depends upon a host of factors ... includ[ing] the 
importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's 
case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence 
or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the 
testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of 
cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the 
overall strength of the prosecution's case. 

State v. Jasper, 174 Wn. 2d 96, 117,271 P.3d 876 (2012) (quoting 

Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431,89 L.Ed.2d 

674 (1986)) (internal citations omitted). 

22 



Here, the State's case, while circumstantial, was strong and the 

evidence regarding the delivery of the methamphetamine corroborated by 

the fact that the weight of the drugs actually delivered was a quarter ounce 

and the amount of money given to the informant to purchase the drugs was 

for a quarter ounce. Without the testimony regarding the informant's 

statements, the evidence presented to the jury included that Nord said he 

would bring the "product" to the informant later that day; the informant 

was given pre-recorded drug money, money that was sufficient to buy a 

quarter ounce of methamphetamine; a car associated with Nord was seen 

driving into the informant's driveway, the place that the informant had 

arranged with Nord for the delivery; the informant gave the detective a 

quarter ounce of methamphetamine immediately after Nord drove away 

from the informant's house; when officers signaled for Nord to pull over 

his vehicle, Nord tried to flee; a baggy of methamphetamine was found on 

the driver's side floorboard next to Nord's wallet at the end of the chase; 

and Nord admitted in a jail recording that the informant was the only one 

with whom he had dealt "clear," methamphetamine, that day. Even if 

Nord had preserved a confrontation clause challenge, any error would 

have been harmless. (Similarly, Nord would not be able to meet his 

burden to establish a manifest error of constitutional magnitude because he 

would not be able to establish that the error was manifest, i.e., prejudicial.) 
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3. Under the post-verdict liberal standard of 
review, the element of "willfully" can be fairly 
implied from the rest of the language in the 
information. 

Nord next asserts that the attempting to elude conviction should be 

dismissed without prejudice because the information did not include all 

the essential elements of the charge. However, under the applicable post-

verdict liberal construction standard, the essential element of "willfully" 

failing to stop can be fairly implied from the charging language as a 

whole, specifically the reference that he committed the offense while 

attempting to elude the police vehicle. Nord has failed to allege any 

specific prejUdice from the inartfullanguage in the information, and 

therefore the charge does not need to be dismissed. 

A charging document is constitutionally adequate only if all of the 

essential elements, statutory and non-statutory, are included in the 

document so as to place the defendant on notice of the charges and allow 

the defendant to prepare a defense. State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 

812 P .2d 86 (1991). When the sufficiency of a charging document is 

challenged for the first time on appeal, courts liberally construe the 

information in favor of validity. Id. at 103. A different standard of review 

is employed post verdict in order to "encourage defendants to make timely 

challenges to defective charging documents and to discourage 
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'sandbagging,' i.e., waiting to assert a defect in the charging document

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